STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Nov 09 2023**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Dorchester County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

MARTIN D. FLOYD,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000968  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

GARY H JOHNSON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. Did the PCR Court err in finding counsel was effective during petitioner's trial for first degree burglary of a mobile home when she failed to present witnesses who would have provided details on both petitioner's residency in the mobile home and his close relationship with the deceased owner which would have made conviction for burglary an impossibility?

2. Did the PCR court err in finding counsel was effective when she failed to conduct a reasonable investigation of petitioner's residency in the mobile home which would have made conviction for burglary an impossibility?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was convicted of first-degree burglary and sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole in connection with entering a mobile home in which he maintained a residence and close relationship with the deceased owner.<sup>1</sup> App. 257, ll. 14 – 21; 292; 344, l. 3 – 13; 376, ll. 2 -10.

During his original trial, evidence of petitioner’s status as a resident in the mobile home with the consent of decedent Charles Rearick was limited by trial counsel Mary LeMatty’s decision to call a single witness, petitioner’s mother Rita Smith.<sup>2</sup> App. 219 - 236. Despite having two witnesses available, Brian Cole and Jason Tony, who would have provided testimony concerning both petitioner’s residency in the mobile home and storage of his personal property there, trial counsel LeMatty elected not to call them since petitioner’s mother “did a wonderful job” and trial counsel believed the testimony would be “duplicative.”<sup>3</sup> App. 395, ll. 16 – 20.

Petitioner was represented by Leslie Sarji in connection with his PCR hearing before the Honorable Kristi Curtis on May 21, 2021. App. 326. Samantha Weidauer appeared on behalf of the State. Sarji, eight years after petitioner’s original trial, presented the testimony of both Cole and Tony at the PCR hearing concerning petitioner living at the mobile home and maintaining

---

<sup>1</sup> The mobile home was owned by Charles Rearick, who died in a car accident earlier in the day of petitioner’s alleged burglary. App. 183, ll. 1 – 17.

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner was represented at trial by Mary LeMatty and Michelle Suggs with Glenn Justis and Mandy Kimmons representing the state. App. 1. Following a guilty verdict, Judge Maite Murphy sentenced petitioner to life in prison without the possibility of parole. App. 288; 292.

<sup>3</sup> Both Cole and Tony were at the courthouse under subpoena during petitioner’s three-day trial waiting to be called as witnesses. App. 370, ll. 1-24; 380, l. 15 – 381, l. 16.

property there around the time of the alleged burglary. App. 369, l. 22 – 370, l. 24; 369, ll. 4 – 18; 372, l. 6 – 373, l. 3.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel LeMatty admitted to never visiting the mobile home or making an investigation to support petitioner's residency status.<sup>4</sup> App. 403, ll. 3 – 13. Jessica Koon was a neighbor who lived in close proximity to the mobile home at the time of the alleged burglary. App. 374, ll. 15 – 22. Sarji, despite the long passage of time, located and presented Koon's testimony at the PCR hearing that Koon was able to visually confirm petitioner's continued presence at the mobile home close in time to the owner's passing and that petitioner did in fact reside at the mobile home with the owner's consent and permission. App. 376, ll. 2 – 22.

At trial, the solicitor hammered petitioner on the lack of evidence and witnesses regarding his residence in the mobile home and ownership of tools and other items in the mobile home and outbuilding. App. 235, ll. 2 – 23; 266, ll. 11 – 24. The solicitor also impeached the testimony of petitioner's mother on her desire to protect her son and with the idea that her testimony about his residence and maintaining property at the mobile home were recent fabrications since she did not tell anyone until providing testimony at trial. App. 235, ll. 2 – 23.

While petitioner admitted to spending most nights with his new girlfriend away from the mobile home leading up to his arrest, he testified at his PCR hearing that he maintained his property at the mobile home and was a tenant of the decedent. App. 364, l. 20 – 365, l. 10. Trial counsel admitted that petitioner never told her that he had abandoned the mobile home as his residence but that his spending most nights away from the mobile home complicated his residency status. App. 404, ll. 3 – 17; 408, ll. 8 – 17.

---

<sup>4</sup> While both LeMatty and Suggs appeared on behalf of petitioner at trial, LeMatty served as lead counsel and provided testimony at the PCR hearing and is hereinafter referred to as trial counsel.

Petitioner was tried before Judge Murphy and a jury from December 17 – 19, 2013. App. 1. Following a guilty verdict, the Court of Appeals upheld petitioner’s conviction on direct appeal in an unpublished opinion ruling that the mobile home could still qualify as a dwelling despite the death of Rearick and that the state presented sufficient evidence on intent to commit a crime to submit the issue to the jury. State v. Floyd, No. 2015-UP-362, 2015 WL 4275318 (S.C. Ct. App. July 15, 2015). Petitioner filed for post-conviction relief and an evidentiary hearing was held on May 21, 2021. App. 328. Judge Curtis denied post-conviction relief by order dated June 7, 2023. App. 427 – 463.

This petition for certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

“A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). To establish a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). “[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

1. The PCR Court erred in finding counsel was effective during petitioner’s trial for first degree burglary of a mobile home when she failed to present witnesses who would have provided details on both petitioner’s residency in the mobile home and his close relationship with the deceased owner which would have made conviction for burglary an impossibility.

A. The evidence of petitioner’s residency in the mobile home at trial.

At the time of his arrest, petitioner was with three companions who were also charged with burglary. App. 80, ll. 12 – 20. The state called two of these individuals as witnesses, Angela Fleeman and Rusty Norris. App. 2. Fleeman testified that petitioner was emotional and upset on hearing of Mr. Rearick’s passing and took the group to the mobile home to retrieve petitioner’s

personal property. App. 105, l. 10 – 110, l. 3. Norris similarly testified that petitioner wanted to retrieve his property from the mobile home. App. 129, l. 23 – 130, l. 11.

The state also presented the testimony of the decedent’s daughter, Jennifer Felkel. From Felkel, the state was able to present testimony that petitioner had resided with the decedent but that he had been “kicked out” the summer before the burglary. App. 198, ll. 7 – 9. The solicitor explained the purpose of this testimony to the trial judge in response to a motion for a mistrial:

Obviously, Ms Lematty has no problem with other people testifying that he lived there. They don't have personal knowledge of that. *It's all coming from their client telling them he lived there.* So she's okay with all of that coming in, but we can't have a person who does have personal knowledge, who talked to her father every day, that can -- *I mean, she's corroborating that, yes, he did live there, but at some point he left. And that's all we're trying to establish is that he left back in the summer.* He wasn't a resident there when this burglary took place. And we'd be happy to -- you know, that's essentially what I wanted to get out of this witness was that at the time of this burglary he was no longer living there.<sup>5</sup>

App. 200, ll. 9 -22 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel called a single witness, petitioner’s mother Rita Smith. App. 220, ll. 2 – 15. Smith’s testimony about petitioner living in the mobile home and keeping property there were effectively cast in doubt on cross-examination.

Q. *And according to your testimony today you know [Petitioner] had property there.*

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That's what you said.

A. Yes.

Q. *So that seems to corroborate what he was saying, wouldn't that be correct?*

---

<sup>5</sup> Counsel for petitioner ultimately abandoned the motion for a mistrial. App. 201, l. 16 – 202, l. 9.

A. Yes.

Q. *Don't you think that would help him, that police would like to hear that?*

A. Well, it's the truth.

Q. *The truth is you'd do anything for your son, wouldn't you?*

A. Not anything, no, sir. He's made me angry lot of times and sometimes I wouldn't do anything for him, no, sir, but I don't want to see him go to jail, to prison for the rest of his life for something that he did not do -- you know, he did not do, that's all.

Q. *But you're okay with him sitting in jail for a year when you have information that might help him?*

A. I really didn't know that that option was available to me. I did not know that.

App. 235, ll. 2 – 23 (emphasis added). This line of questioning implied a recent fabrication by his mother of petitioner both living in the mobile home and keeping his property there since she did not want to see petitioner sent to prison for the rest of his life.<sup>6</sup>

During closing argument, the solicitor focused on the sole source of the alleged relationship between petitioner and the decedent and the mobile home were the petitioner's own statements made to Fleeman and Norris. "*The only person that said Marty Floyd had permission to be there was Marty Floyd. That's what he told Angela Fleeman and that's what he told Rusty Norris.*" App. 256, ll. 5 – 8 (emphasis added).

The solicitor also emphasized that the sole witness offered to support the claims petitioner made to Fleeman and Norris about living in the mobile home and maintaining property there was his mother, who the solicitor claimed likely fabricated testimony to protect her son.

---

<sup>6</sup> Trial counsel was apparently prepared for the bias allegation by bringing the independent witnesses Cole and Toney to trial under subpoena but failed to call them to present testimony.

And finally, as far as witnesses, Marty's mom. *It's his mom.* She testifies *that the first time she told her story was last Friday.* Her son's locked up for a year, over a year. You don't come forward if you've got information that you think will help him? Is that reasonable? As I said, they're there two, three, four times a week. Couldn't he get his stuff then? You know, when you look at the witnesses on cross-examination of the State's witnesses, you really didn't learn anything new. They just reiterated what they said in direct. He told me he had permission, this happened, that happened. Nothing new. You know, Ms. Smith, Marty's mom, on cross-examination *we found out a few things that she didn't tell us on direct like, oh, this is the first time I'm telling this story.*

App. 266, ll. 11 – 24 (emphasis added).

The solicitor also made extensive use of the lack of evidence that petitioner maintained his personal property at the mobile home.

Same thing with the shop vac. You saw in one of the pictures the shop vac. *There's no testimony that that was Marty's. The only testimony related to an item that was Marty's, according to his mom, was this picture that he cared a lot about.* He cared a lot about his art, according to Ms. Lematty. He cared so much he left it there for seven months because he couldn't fit -- too much stuff to take.

App. 264, l. 24 – 265, l. 6 (emphasis added).

B. How residency was addressed at PCR hearing.

At trial, it was undisputed that petitioner spoke to Fleeman and Norris about his desire to retrieve his property from the mobile home on the evening of their arrest. App. 105, l. 10 – 110, l. 3; 129, l. 23 – 130, l. 11. After entering the mobile home, they made no effort at stealth, turning on all the lights and staying for a good amount of time before police arrived. App. 108, l. 19 – 109, l. 9; 114, l. 22 – 115, l. 12. Petitioner had a discussion with Fleeman about the need to stay at the mobile home to be sure no one tried to break in and rob it. App. 116, ll. 9 – 16. When

police did finally drive up to the mobile home, petitioner told Fleeman “Angela, don't freak out. He said, it's the law. We're not doing anything wrong. We're fine.” App. 116, ll. 22 - 24.

The basis for petitioner’s statements that night are simple: he lived there and was only at the mobile home to retrieve his own property. At his PCR hearing, petitioner testified he had lived at the mobile home with the decedent for almost a year before he was arrested on this burglary allegation. App. 344, l. 3 – 13. While he admitted to staying most nights with his girlfriend close in time to his arrest, he maintained a residency status in the mobile home and his possessions remained there since he was still in the “getting to know each other” phase of the relationship with his girlfriend. App. 365, ll. 1 – 7. Petitioner explained that he resided in the mobile home and had the consent of the deceased owner to be there, and shared witness names with trial counsel to support those assertions. App. 345, l. 13 – 346, l. 19; 347, ll. 1 – 19. Petitioner also tried to get trial counsel to review the law surrounding his status as a tenant under South Carolina law and his legal right to be on the property.

Q. Did you and Ms. LeMatty ever discuss South Carolina landlord/tenant law?

A. I had shown her -- I had written many letters to her about it. I had shown her some paperwork that my father had sent me about it, landlord/tenant law stating that I'm a tenant-at-will, or a tenant for a term, when you have an oral or written agreement. And she told me that she didn't want to pursue that issue, that defense strategy.

App. 345, ll. 6 – 14.

Brian Cole testified at the PCR hearing. He was at petitioner’s trial under subpoena and expected to testify but was never called by trial counsel. App. 369, l. 22 – 370, l. 24. He provided testimony of moving petitioner’s belongings into the mobile home and visiting several times,

including on occasions when the deceased owner was also present. App. 369, ll. 4 – 18; 372, l. 6 – 373, l. 3.

Jason Tony grew up with petitioner and knew the decedent owner of the mobile home very well. App. 380, l. 2 – 18. Tony testified at the PCR hearing that he visited the mobile home quite often, even bring a quantity of meat for petitioner to store in a freezer *a few weeks* before the owner's death. App. 381, ll. 5 – 18. Tony was at petitioner's trial under subpoena but was never called to testify by trial counsel. App. 382, ll. 15 – 25.

Jessica Koon was a neighbor who lived in close proximity to the mobile home. App. 374, ll. 15 – 22. She resided there with her boyfriend and was back and forth to another residence in Dorchester.<sup>7</sup> She testified at the PCR hearing that she was able to visually confirm petitioner's continued presence at the mobile home close in time to the owner's passing and that petitioner did in fact reside at the mobile home with the owner's consent and permission. App. 376, ll. 2 – 22. Trial counsel admitted to never visiting the mobile home or making an inquiry of neighbors, like Koon, to confirm petitioner's residency at the mobile home. App. 403, ll. 3 – 13.

Despite the legal importance of petitioner's status as a resident of the mobile home, trial counsel elected not to interview neighbors like Koon, discussed *infra*, or call two available witnesses to establish petitioner's residency and property in the mobile home. Trial counsel acknowledged understanding the importance of this legal issue leading up to trial and the potential probelm created by petitioner spending nights with his girlfriend leading up to trial:

Well, he had the residency issue. Nobody really contested that he and Mr. Rearick were friends, he had lived with Mr. Rearick for a

---

<sup>7</sup> This testimony of part-time residential status and moving back and forth between places of residence would have been particularly informative for the jury as it mirrored petitioner's own residency status.

period of time.<sup>8</sup> It became a bit fuzzy towards in the month prior to Mr. Rearick's passing because Mr. Floyd had a girlfriend, and I believe he had a young child, or a child on the way, or something like that, so he wasn't at Mr. Rearick's as consistently as he would have been if I just say that I'm living at this place.

He would go back and forth, but he was still working on the property. He did still have items of his own at that property. So he was continuing with that relationship, although *it didn't seem from what we were able to gather that he spent every night there in the weeks and months proceeding Mr. Rearick's passing.*

App. 393, ll. 2 – 16 (emphasis added).

Instead of calling Cole and Tony concerning residency, trial counsel relied solely on the testimony of petitioner's mother. Trial counsel explained her reasoning for this decision.

Q. Okay. And you did subpoena the two gentlemen that did testify today?

A. Yes.

Q. And why did you not call them at trial?

A. To the best of my recollection, I think I just thought it would be cumulative after his mother. *I thought his mother did a wonderful job in setting things out very clearly, and I just thought it would be duplicative.*

Q. Okay. And was there any strategy involved in not calling them?

A. The second gentleman who testified said something, he testified something about the timeframe not matching up or something. And I believe -- and this all sort of happened at the courthouse as things were happening, but I believe I may have backed off on calling him for that. And the other gentleman, I just thought would be duplicative of Mr. Floyd's mother's testimony.

---

<sup>8</sup> The idea that “nobody” contested the friendship is inaccurate. Decedent’s daughter, Jennifer Felkel testified that decedent kicked petitioner out of the mobile home. App. 198, ll. 7-9. The solicitor emphasized the lack of witnesses about this supposed friendship. App. 256, ll. 5–8. The witnesses available to trial counsel would have established the friendship between petitioner and decedent so that they were “not really contested” but trial counsel elected to not present this evidence.

App. 394, l. 12 – 395, 5 (emphasis added).

It is important to note trial counsel denied any independent memory of the conversations or actions she took surrounding trial that were not reflected in her physical file or the record. App. 399, l. 16 – 400, l. 4. In contrast, petitioner recalled the issue surrounding the two witnesses very well. He testified as follows:

Q. And what is it that you believed that they would offer at your trial?

A. A good faith relationship between me and Mr. Charlie, that I had belonged there, that I had a right to be there.

Q. Okay.

A. That I had a bona fide interest in that home.

Q. Did Ms. LeMatty ever discuss with you why she did not call those two witnesses to trial?

A. The only thing Ms. LeMatty told me is after the State called their witnesses, which were two of my co-defendants, both my co-defendants consistently testified that there was no intention to commit a crime, that they had permission to be there, and she told me that she believed those star witnesses for the prosecution had actually gave testimony that would have acquitted me because there was nothing incriminating in their testimony, that she believed that there's nobody left that needed to be called, and she believed I didn't need to get on the stand because they already proved my innocence.

App. 348, l. 15 – 349, l. 10.

Trial counsel admitted the error in not calling these witnesses during the PCR hearing.

Q. [W]ould you agree with me that Mr. Justis [the solicitor] worked hard to impeach Marty's mother's testimony because she's his mother?

A. He did. He did focus on that in closing.

Q. And actually while he was questioning her, he cross-examined her about the fact that she would do anything she could to help Mr. Floyd because she's his mother. Do you recall that?

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