RECEIVED

Feb 26 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**CERTIORARI TO DORCHESTER COUNTY
Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge**

Appellate Case No. 2023-000968

MARTIN D. FLOYD,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**BRYAN T. HALL
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 106039**

**DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999**

**Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737**

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective for not calling witnesses to testify at Petitioner's trial and not investigating Petitioner's residence in the mobile home. However, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel's performance fell below the objective standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the PCR applicant must prove (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms [i.e. deficient performance], and (2) the applicant sustained prejudice as a result of counsel's deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687–88 (1984); *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To establish prejudice, the applicant must prove "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). A PCR applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. When evaluating a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, the court is to examine counsel's conduct by the law available at the time of trial and a fair assessment requires that "every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance and range of legitimate decisions regarding how

best to represent a defendant must be highly deferential to counsel. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

- I. **The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call witnesses to testify to Petitioner’s residency because counsel articulated a reasonable strategic decision for not calling witnesses whose testimonies were cumulative to testimony already presented, inconsistent with the timeframe for the burglary, and if true, would not have changed the result of the trial.**

Petitioner asserts counsel was ineffective for failing to call witnesses who would have testified to Petitioner’s residency in the mobile home and his close relationship with Rearick. However, the PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving counsel was ineffective for failing to call Brian Cole and Jason Tony to testify at trial because counsel articulated a reasonable strategic decision for not calling the witnesses.

A criminal defense attorney has a duty to conduct reasonable investigations to discover all reasonably available evidence tending to rebut any aggravating evidence introduced by the state. *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 46, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008). The scope of a reasonable investigation depends on a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and make independent investigations of the facts and circumstances of the case. *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331–32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis omitted). However, counsel’s duty to interview potential witnesses is limited to when it is reasonable to do so. *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 457, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011). Counsel is not required to call every potential witness where counsel makes a reasonable decision and can articulate reasonable grounds for not calling the witness. *Id.* To prevail on a claim that counsel failed to interview or call witnesses, an applicant must prove counsel’s inaction resulted in prejudice by producing witnesses at the PCR hearing to show a reasonable probability the result

of the trial would have been different based on the witness's testimony. *C.f. Glove v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995).

At the PCR hearing, Brian Cole ("Cole") testified that he knew Petitioner was living with Rearick because he helped Petitioner move some tools (a skill saw, jigsaw, and hand tools) and clothes to Rearick's home. (App. 369). Cole testified that he did not know when the move-in occurred. (App. 372). Cole would have testified at trial that Cole purchased the tools Petitioner owned and kept at Rearick's home. (App. 371).

Jason Tony ("Tony") testified that he knew Petitioner lived at Rearick's home because Petitioner told Tony that he lived there, and Tony would go visit Petitioner there. (App. 380). Tony testified that Petitioner would be at Rearick's house, sometimes working, but was not there all of the time. (App. 381). Tony testified that he saw Petitioner there several times, and Petitioner had baby toys in Rearick's house. Tony also testified that he brought Petitioner some meat to store in a freezer at Rearick's home two (2) months before Rearick passed away. (App. 381). Neither Cole nor Tony testified about whether Petitioner still lived with Rearick at the time of Rearick's death.

A. Counsel articulated a reasonable strategic decision for failing to call witnesses, Brian Cole and Jason Tony, because their testimonies were cumulative to testimony given by Petitioner's mother and inconsistent with the State's timeframe for the burglary.

Petitioner asserts Counsel was ineffective for failing to call Brian Cole ("Cole") and Jason Tony ("Tony"), who would have testified to Petitioner's residency and close relationship with Rearick. Counsel's performance was not deficient under prevailing professional norms because Counsel articulated a reasonable strategic decision for not calling Cole and Tony to testify. Counsel testified that Cole and Tony's testimonies would have been cumulative to another witness' testimony and did not match the State's timeline for the burglary. (App. 395).

Petitioner cites *Weldon v. State*, 436 S.C. 69, 870 S.E.2d 183 (Ct. App. 2021). However, Petitioner's case is distinguishable from *Weldon*. In *Weldon*, the Court of Appeals determined that

an attorney was ineffective for failing to call alibi witnesses where an attorney admitted he did not know why he did not call the witnesses. *Id.* at 83, 870 S.E.2d at 190. The alibi witnesses would have testified that the defendant was with them the morning of the crime. *Id.* at 76, 870 S.E.2d at 186-87. The only evidence that tied the defendant to the crime was DNA on a single piece of duct tape recovered from the victim's head. *Id.* at 74, 870 S.E.2d at 185. The defendant worked with the victim in a woodshop. *Id.* The defendant denied knowing anyone involved, and none of the people interviewed by law enforcement implicated the defendant in the crime. *Id.* The defendant's attorney testified that his trial strategy was to attack the credibility of the DNA evidence. *Id.* at 77-78, 870 S.E.2d at 187. Although the attorney had spoken to the alibi witnesses about the defendant's whereabouts, the attorney did not call the witnesses to testify and *admitted that he did not know why* he chose not to call the witnesses. *Id.* at 77-83, 870 S.E.2d at 187-90 (emphasis added). The court determined the attorney was ineffective for failing to call the alibi witnesses because the attorney could not articulate a valid trial strategy for not doing so. *Id.* at 82-82, 870 S.E.2d at 190.

Here, however, Counsel identified two (2) valid strategic reasons why she did not call Cole and Tony to testify. At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that she subpoenaed Cole and Tony to testify but did not call them because their testimonies were cumulative to the trial testimony of Rita Smith ("Smith"), who had already testified that Petitioner previously lived with Rearick, kept property there, and was working on the mobile home. (App. 395; 222). Counsel testified she believed Cole and Tony's testimonies would have been duplicative of Smith's testimony and would not have presented a real issue because it was undisputed that that Petitioner and Rearick were friends, had previously lived together, and Petitioner was in the process of remodeling the mobile home. (App. 395; 402; 412-13). Counsel testified she thought Smith did a wonderful job

setting those facts out clearly. (App. 395). Counsel testified that her trial strategy was to argue Petitioner was not at the mobile home to commit a crime but to retrieve his property, and the mobile home was not a dwelling since Rearick had passed. (App. 415-16). Smith's trial testimony alone was sufficient to support Counsel's trial strategy. Although Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that she now disagreed with her decision not to call Cole and Tony to testify (App. 402), Counsel's conduct is not to be judged by hindsight but by the decision made at trial in congruence with the strategic reason articulated. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 ("a fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight").

Counsel further testified that the timelines in Cole and Tony's testimonies did not match the State's timeline for the burglary. (App. 395). The State's case was that the burglary occurred on January 17, 2013. Cole could not identify when he helped Petitioner move into the mobile home. (App. 372). Tony's testimony that he brought Petitioner meat while Petitioner lived at the mobile home occurred months before Rearick's passing. (App. 381). Cole and Tony's testimonies regarding their knowledge of Petitioner residing at the mobile home involved facts that occurred weeks to months prior to the burglary. Counsel identified this as one of the reasons for not calling Cole and Tony to testify. Thus, Counsel's performance was not deficient because she articulated valid strategic decisions for not calling Cole and Tony to testify at trial.

B. Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced by Counsel's decision not to call Brian Cole and Jason Tony because, if true, their testimonies regarding Petitioner's residency in the mobile home would not have changed the result of the trial.

Petitioner asserts that Cole and Tony's testimonies regarding Petitioner's residency in the mobile home and close relationship with Rearick would have made the burglary a legal impossibility. However, assuming Cole and Tony's testimonies regarding these facts are true, the testimonies would not have changed the result of the trial.

Petitioner cites *Martin v. State*, 427 S.C. 450, 832 S.E.2d 277 (2019). However, Petitioner's case is distinguishable from *Martin*. In *Martin*, the Supreme Court determined an attorney's failure to call an alibi witness resulted in prejudice when the alibi witness would have testified to the defendant's whereabouts at specific time that would have made the crime an impossibility. *Id.* at 457, 832 S.E.2d at 280. The defendant's mother informed the attorney that she dropped her son off at a bus stop in Atlanta, GA around 11:15 am or 11:30 am on the day of the robbery. *Id.* at 453, 832 S.E.2d at 279. The robbery occurred at 12:20 pm in North Augusta, SC. *Id.* There was no evidence linking the defendant to the robbery other than the testimony of the co-defendants who admitted their guilt, two of whom admitted to lying to law enforcement in an effort to exonerate themselves. *Id.* at 453, 457, 832 S.E.2d at 279, 280. The defendant's mother gave the attorney *specific and critical information* regarding the defendant's whereabouts, which the attorney failed to elicit from the mother at trial. *Id.* at 453-54, 832 S.E. at 279 (emphasis added). The Court found Counsel's performance prejudiced the defendant because without the specific timeline testimony, the defendant failed to establish a legal alibi that would have made the defendant's participation a legal impossibility. *Id.* at 456, 832 S.E.2d at 280. The Court determined there was a reasonable likelihood the trial would have been different with the *specific timeline testimony*. *Id.* (emphasis added).

Here, unlike the alibi witness in *Martin*, neither Cole nor Tony's testimonies establish Petitioner's residence in the mobile home *at the time of the burglary*. Jennifer testified at Petitioner's trial that although Petitioner previously lived with Rearick, Rearick kicked Petitioner out of the house approximately six months prior to the burglary. (App. 197-98). Cole testified that he does not know when he helped Petitioner move into the mobile home. (App. 372). Tony testified that he brought Petitioner meat while Petitioner resided at the mobile home but acknowledged that

instance occurred a couple months prior to Rearick's death. (App. 381). Both Cole and Tony's testimonies that Petitioner previously lived with Rearick was a fact already known, but neither could establish Petitioner's residence in the mobile home with specificity to the burglary's timeline. Further, there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt, unlike the defendant in *Martin*, because law enforcement caught Petitioner committing the burglary.

Petitioner also cites *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008). However, Petitioner's case is also distinguishable from *Lounds*. In *Lounds*, the Court determined an attorney was ineffective for failing to call witnesses who would have testified to the friendship of the defendant and the victim, which would have added significantly to the credibility of the defendant's case. *Id.* The defendant was charged with armed robbery and kidnapping. *Id.* at 457, 670 S.E.2d at 647. The victim testified that the defendant and another held him at gun and knife point and demanded money. *Id.* The defendant testified in his own defense and related a "much different account[,]" in which the defendant stated the victim bought drugs from him in the past. *Id.* at 458, 670 S.E.2d 648. The defendant denied having a weapon, threatening the victim, and stated the victim owed him money. *Id.* When recalled, the victim denied ever buying or using drugs. *Id.* The defendant's attorney failed to call the defendant's brother as a witness, who would have testified that the defendant and the victim bought and used drugs together. *Id.* at 461-62, 670 S.E.2d at 650. The Court determined this testimony would have added *significantly* to the defendant's credibility because it would have directly refuted the victim's testimony. *See Id.* at 462, 670 S.E. at 650 (emphasis added).

Here, unlike the defendant's brother's testimony in *Lounds*, neither Cole nor Tony's testimonies would have added *significant* credibility to Petitioner's case. Cole and Tony would have testified to facts already known by Petitioner, the State, and the jury. Counsel testified to this

point at the PCR hearing, stating that it was no real issue that Petitioner was on the property frequently, lived there previously, was working on the house, had property there, and was friends with Rearick. (App. 412-13).

Further, Petitioner's argument regarding a "close relationship" between Petitioner and Rearick is immaterial to the elements of burglary. Cole and Tony's testimony that Petitioner and Rearick were friends was an undisputed fact that would not have changed the result of the trial because two parties having a close relationship does not negate any element of burglary or add significantly to Petitioner's defense. Thus, Petitioner failed to show a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different but for Counsel's failure to call Cole and Tony to testify to his residence and close relationship with Rearick. Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not ineffective.

II. The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for not investigating the circumstances surrounding Petitioner's residence in the mobile home because counsel's conduct was reasonable under prevailing professional norms, and Petitioner failed to present evidence that information from such investigations would have established Petitioner's residency at the time of burglary, and thus, would have changed the result of the trial.

Petitioner asserts Counsel was ineffective for not investigating circumstances surrounding Petitioner's residence. However, the PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate Petitioner's residency in the mobile home. Further, Petitioner failed to present evidence of information from investigations of Petitioner's residency in the mobile home that would have changed the result of the trial.

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